1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
JUN 10 2014 02:16 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

* * * * *

VIVIAN MARIE LEE HARRISON,

Appellant,

Case No. 64569

vs.

NORTON A. ROITMAN, M.D.,

Respondent.

Direct Appeal from the District Court's Order of Dismissal
Eighth Judicial District Court
Case No. A-13-687300-C
Honorable Kenneth Cory

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

John Ohlson, Esq.
275 Hill Street, Suite 230
Reno, Nevada 89501
(775) 323-2700

Counsel for Appellant
Vivian Marie Lee Harrison

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 26, 2013, Ms. Harrison sued Dr. Roitman for medical malpractice, negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress, and civil conspiracy based upon a June 9, 2011, psychological analysis and report about Ms. Harrison in which Dr. Roitman diagnosed Ms. Harrison with “narcissistic personality disorder” based solely upon information provided by a third party and without ever having met or seen Ms. Harrison. *See* Joint Appendix (“J.A.”) at 1-19. Ms. Harrison sought to recover the damages to her caused by the report and diagnosis, which were used against her in litigation to which she was a party, based upon the effort she was required to undertake and expense she incurred to overcome Dr. Roitman’s inappropriate and incorrect diagnosis of her. *Id.*

In response to Ms. Harrison’s complaint, Dr. Roitman sought to dismiss the complaint with prejudice, initially asserting that Dr. Roitman did not owe a duty to Ms. Harrison and otherwise substantively challenging Ms. Harrison’s specific causes of action (as stated in Dr. Roitman’s Motion to Dismiss, J.A. at 30-38), but later raising witness immunity (as stated in Dr. Roitman’s Reply in Support of his Motion to Dismiss, J.A. at 55-73). After an October 8, 2013, hearing on Dr. Roitman’s motion (J.A. at 74-95) and considering the parties’ post-hearing supplemental points and authorities on the witness immunity issue (J.A. at J.A. 96-

1 100, 121-133)¹, the district court granted Dr. Roitman's motion and dismissed Ms.
2 Harrison's complaint based upon witness immunity as stated and applied in *Bruce*
3 *v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs. Engineers, Inc.*, 113 Wash.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989)
4 (J.A. at 134-138).
5

6 Ms. Harrison appeals the district court's November 19, 2013, Order granting
7 Dr. Roitman's motion to dismiss Ms. Harrison's brief with prejudice based upon
8 witness immunity.
9

10 **IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

11 In and during 2011 and 2012, Ms. Harrison was a party in a divorce action
12 being litigated in Clark County, Nevada ("the Harrison litigation") in which her
13 then-husband, Kirk Harrison, retained Dr. Roitman as his forensic psychiatric expert
14 to "evaluate" Ms. Harrison. J.A. at 136. It is the June 9, 2011, report that was
15 prepared and signed by Dr. Roitman and submitted to the court in the Harrison
16 litigation that gave rise to Ms. Harrison's lawsuit against Dr. Roitman in this case.
17 J.A. at 1-19, 101-120, 136.
18
19

20 In the underlying suit to this appeal, Ms. Harrison claims that Dr. Roitman's
21 June 9, 2011, report constitutes medical malpractice by Dr. Roitman and was the
22

23
24 ¹ Because Dr. Roitman's challenge to Ms. Harrison's complaint based upon
25 witness immunity was not raised by Dr. Roitman until he filed his reply in support
26 of his motion to dismiss (J.A. at 55-73), and because that basis for his request
27 became centerpiece for the district court's consideration (J.A. at 74-95), the district
28 court took Dr. Roitman's request under submission and permitted the parties to
submit supplemental points and authorities on the witness immunity issue prior to
scheduling its chambers decision on the motion. J.A. at 96.

1 result of a civil conspiracy between Dr. Roitman and the party adverse to Ms.
2 Harrison in the Harrison litigation. Ms. Harrison also asserts attendant claims for
3 negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress. J.A. at 1-19, 101-120. In
4 support of her claims, Ms. Harrison alleged, in relevant part, that:
5

- 6 - during the Harrison litigation, her then-husband (the adverse party to her in
7 the Harrison litigation), in an effort to advance his position in the case and
8 gain an advantage over her, submitted to the court a June 9, 2011, Report
9 and "psychiatric analysis" that was signed by Dr. Roitman, a Nevada-
licensed psychiatrist;
- 10 - in his report and "psychiatric analysis" of Ms. Harrison, Dr. Roitman
11 **diagnosed** Ms. Harrison as having "narcissistic personality disorder,"
12 concluded that her "pathological narcissistic personality disorder is near
13 impossible to treat and her **prognosis is very poor**," and further stated that
14 "if [Ms. Harrison's] character were stronger, she might have a shot at
improving with treatment], but unfortunately, she is shallow and critical,
and lacks internal structure;"
- 15 - Dr. Roitman's June 9, 2011, Report offered opinions and conclusions as to
16 what the outcome of the Harrison litigation in reference to Ms. Harrison
17 should be based upon that diagnosis and prognosis;
- 18 - Dr. Roitman provided his psychiatric analysis, conclusions, and diagnosis
19 regarding Ms. Harrison *despite that Dr. Roitman had never, and has
never, met or seen Ms. Harrison*; and
- 20 - Dr. Roitman submitted his report for the Harrison litigation based solely on
21 the information provided to him by Ms. Harrison's then-husband, who had
22 requested that psychiatric analysis of Ms. Harrison to inform the court of
23 her mental condition and functional limitations.

24 J.A. at 1-19, 101-120, 136 (emphasis added). Ms. Harrison goes on to allege that,
25 in response to Dr. Roitman's report, she voluntarily sought and underwent
26 comprehensive and direct clinical and psychometric assessments by other mental
27 health professionals, and that the opinions of those professionals about Ms.
28

1 Harrison were contrary to those stated by Dr. Roitman. J.A. at 1-19, 101-120.
2 However, because Dr. Roitman's report regarding and diagnosis of Ms. Harrison
3 did significant damage to her in the Harrison litigation, caused her emotional and
4 physical suffering, and caused unnecessary delays in and substantially increased the
5 attorneys fees and expert costs to Ms. Harrison of the Harrison litigation, Ms.
6 Harrison sought damages related to the effort required by her, the expense she
7 incurred to address and overcome Dr. Roitman's mis-diagnosis of her, and the
8 resulting emotional and physical harm to her. *Id.* In support of her claims, Ms.
9 Harrison submitted affidavits from two distinguished and prominent psychiatrists
10 who state that Dr. Roitman fell below the standard of care of a psychiatrist by
11 diagnosing Ms. Harrison based on third party information and without ever having
12 met or seen her. J.A. at 10-19.

13 Dr. Roitman moved to dismiss Ms. Harrison's complaint pursuant to NRC
14 12(b)(5) for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. J.A. at 30-38.
15 Dr. Roitman asserted that, by suing him, Ms. Harrison attempted to circumvent the
16 litigation privilege, to which he made a very cursory and conclusory reference, and
17 went on to substantively challenge each of Ms. Harrison's causes of action. *Id.*
18 After opposing Dr. Roitman's motion on the bases stated in the motion (J.A. at 39-
19 54)², Dr. Roitman submitted a supporting reply that challenged Ms. Harrison's

20 ² Ms. Harrison contended that Dr. Roitman's report was not subject to the
21 litigation privilege, and that his motion was otherwise fraught with citations to
22 authority that were misleading and misstated, or were otherwise inapposite. J.A. at

1 complaint based on witness immunity as stated in *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens &*
2 *Associates Eng'rs, Inc.* 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989) – a position that was
3 entirely different from the bases asserted in his motion.³ J.A. at 55-73.
4

5 Indeed, the witness immunity issue was the focus of the district court's
6 October 8, 2013, hearing on Dr. Roitman's motion to dismiss. J.A. at J.A. 74-95.
7 To that end, Dr. Roitman summarily argued that witness immunity simply
8 prohibited Ms. Harrison from suing Dr. Roitman because he appeared as an expert
9 witness in the underlying litigation. J.A. at 76-77. Although Ms. Harrison did not
10 have the opportunity to respond in writing to Dr. Roitman's newly-asserted witness
11 immunity position and had very little time between when she received Dr.
12 Roitman's October 3, 2013, reply and the district court's October 8, 2013, hearing
13 to address that new position, she was able to conduct enough research to address Dr.
14 Roitman's assertion of witness immunity during the hearing. To that end, Ms.
15 Harrison highlighted the violations by Dr. Roitman of the applicable standard of
16 care by issuing a *diagnosis* and prognosis of someone he had never met or seen and
17 the damage that was done to Ms. Harrison as a result, distinguished the nature of
18 this case from others in Nevada that concerned the issue of witness immunity, and
19
20
21
22
23
24
25 39-54.

26 ³ Dr. Roitman's cursory and conclusory reference to the litigation privilege
27 in his motion addressed Ms. Harrison's effort to avoid that privilege as it concerned
28 the party adverse to her in the Harrison litigation by not naming that party in this
case. J.A. at 32:6-8.

1 specifically noted the historical application of witness immunity in defamation
2 cases. J.A. at 77-84.

3
4 Prior to making a decision on the impact of the witness immunity privilege in
5 reference to Ms. Harrison's suit against Dr. Roitman, the district court permitted the
6 parties to submit additional briefing on that issue and scheduled a chambers
7 decision for October 23, 2013. J.A. at 96. On October 9, 2013, Ms. Harrison
8 submitted supplemental points and authorities in which she challenged the
9 application of the witness immunity privilege to this case as asserted by Dr.
10 Roitman.⁴ J.A. at 97-100. In her supplemental briefing, Ms. Harrison offered an
11 overview of some of the relevant Nevada case law on the issue of witness
12 immunity, the nature of those cases, the underlying rationale as stated in those
13 cases, and the salient facts on which those cases were decided. J.A. at 97-100. In
14 so doing, she illustrated that at no time had Nevada extended or modified its
15 application of witness immunity to the professional negligence/malpractice issues
16 raised in this case. *Id.* In his response to Ms. Harrison's supplemental briefing, Dr.
17 Roitman gave a recap of the cases cited by Ms. Harrison, and quoted (by copy-and-
18
19
20
21
22

23 ⁴ At the same time, Ms. Harrison also filed an amended complaint in which
24 she included an allegation that Dr. Roitman had duty of care to her (J.A. at 101-
25 120), an issue that was raised in Dr. Roitman's initial motion but was not pursued
26 with any zeal in his reply or during the hearing. J.A. at 55-96. Essentially, and
27 without necessarily conceding Dr. Roitman's contention (for the reasons stated in
28 her opposition to the motion to dismiss, J.A. at 41-46), Ms. Harrison addressed the
non-dispositive technicality in order to address what became the focus of Dr.
Roitman's request.

1 paste) large portions of *Clark County School District v. Virtual Education Software,*
2 *Inc.*, 125 Nev. 374, 213 P.3d 496 (2009) and *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Associates*
3 *Engineers, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989) that he deemed relevant to the
4 determination to be made by the district court in this case. J.A. at 121-133.
5

6 On October 23, 2013, the district court entered its order dismissing Ms.
7 Harrison's complaint based upon witness immunity. J.A. at 135-138. In so doing,
8 the district court cited to the general principles governing the absolute immunity as
9 stated in *Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226*, 115 Nev.
10 212, 218, 984 P.2d 164, 168 (1999) and applied the witness immunity privilege to
11 Ms. Harrison's complaint as stated in *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs. Engineers,*
12 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989), finding the *Bruce* case to be the "...authority
13 on this issue." J.A. at 137. The district court's application of *Bruce* in this context,
14 however, was error.
15
16
17

18 **V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

19 The witness immunity doctrine as stated in *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs.*
20 *Engineers*, 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989) is not applicable to this case based
21 the underlying principles for witness immunity that have been stated by this Court
22 and because it is distinguishable on its facts. Under Nevada law, witness immunity
23 has been limited to causes of action for defamation and claims that derivatively
24 depend on defamation, and does not bar a claim against an expert witness for
25 professional negligence/malpractice. Based on Dr. Roitman's failure in this case to
26
27
28

1 meet the standard of care required of psychiatrists to use reasonable care, skill, or
2 knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances, witness immunity does not
3 protect Dr. Roitman. Thus, the district court erred by dismissing Ms. Harrison's
4 complaint with prejudice based on its application of *Bruce* to this case.

6 VI. ARGUMENT

7
8 Nevada has not extended the application of witness immunity beyond
9 defamation cases and causes of action that derivatively depend on a defamation
10 claim. The *Bruce* case on which the district court relied in dismissing Ms.
11 Harrison's complaint based upon witness immunity is not applicable. Witness
12 immunity did not preclude Ms. Harrison from suing Dr. Roitman for medical
13 malpractice. Thus, Ms. Harrison is entitled to this Court's Order reversing the
14 district court's dismissal of her malpractice suit against Dr. Roitman.

17 A. *Nevada has not Extended the Application of Witness Immunity* 18 *Beyond Defamation Cases and Causes of Action That Derivatively* 19 *Depend on a Defamation Claim.*

20 As noted by the district court in its order, the general principles of the
21 absolute immunity doctrine are stated in *Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers*
22 *Union Local 226*, 115 Nev. 212, 218, 984 P.2d 164, 168 (1999).

23
24 Absolute immunity [is granted] to all statements made in the course of,
25 or incidental to, a judicial proceeding, so long as they are relevant to
26 the proceedings." *Sahara Gaming Corp.* [, *supra* 115 Nev. at 218, 984
27 P.2d at 168]. "This has been the policy and rule in Nevada for the last
28 seventy years and the privilege includes administrative hearings, quasi-
judicial proceedings as well as judicial actions. It is in the public's
right to know what transpires in the legal proceedings of this state and
that is paramount to the fact that someone may occasionally make false
and malicious statements.

1 *Sahara Gaming Corp.*, 115 Nev. at 219, 984 P.2d at 168; J.A. at 137:8-16 (¶ 1).
2
3 Indeed, Nevada recognizes the long-standing common law rule that
4 communications uttered or published in the court of judicial proceedings are
5 absolutely privileged. *Circus Circus Hotels v. Witherspoon*, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657
6 P.2d 101, 104 (1983). While Nevada has applied the absolute privilege related to
7 judicial proceedings *primarily in defamation actions*, it has extended its application
8 to other causes of action *that derivatively depend upon the alleged defamation*.
9
10 *Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 49 P.3d 640, 643 (defamation); *Knox v. Dick*, 99
11 Nev. 514, 665 P.2d 267 (1983) (defamation and intentional infliction of emotional
12 distress); *Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226*, 115 Nev.
13 212, 984 P.2d 164 (1999) (civil conspiracy, interference with contract, and
14 interference with prospective economic damage *which were derivative of*
15 *defamation claim*). Moreover, Nevada has applied the absolute privilege doctrine
16 and principles to different sources of statements that give rise to defamation claims.
17
18 *Sahara Gaming Corp.*, 984 P.2d at 166 (Nevada has long recognized a special
19 privilege of *absolute immunity from defamation* given to the news media and the
20 general public to report newsworthy events in judicial proceedings). And, this
21 Court has applied the privilege to communications even if they were known to be
22 false or made with malicious intent. *Clark County School District v. Virtual*
23 *Education Software*, 125 Nev. 374, 213 P.3d 496, 502 (2009) (business defamation
24
25
26
27
28

1 case), *citing* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 587, cmt. d (1977). To that end, this
2 Court explained that the purpose of the absolute privilege is to afford all persons
3 freedom to access the courts and freedom from liability *for defamation* where civil
4 or criminal proceedings are seriously considered. *Clark County School District*,
5 125 Nev. at 383, *citing* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 587, cmts. a, e (1977). Ms.
6 Harrison has purposely not asserted a cause of action for defamation or any claims
7 that derivatively depend on defamation. J.A. at 83-84. Rather, Ms. Harrison has
8 filed a medical malpractice lawsuit against Dr. Roitman based upon his failure to
9 meet the standard of care required of psychiatrists and to use reasonable care, skill,
10 or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by providing a diagnosis
11 and prognosis of Ms. Harrison without having ever met or seen her. Because
12 Nevada has not extended witness immunity to cases in which a professional expert
13 witness violates the applicable standard of care, Dr. Roitman is not protected by
14 witness immunity.
15

16
17
18
19
20 ***B. The Bruce Case on Which the District Court Relied in Dismissing***
21 ***Ms. Harrison's Case Based Upon Witness Immunity is Not***
22 ***Applicable.***

23 In its order granting Dr. Roitman's motion to dismiss, the district court
24 summarily concluded that *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs. Eng'rs Inc.*, 113
25 Wash.2d 123 (1989) is the authority on the absolute immunity issue, citing to the
26 portions of *Bruce* that state that "[w]itnesses in judicial pleadings are absolutely
27 immune from suit based on their testimony[]" and that immunity extends to expert
28

1 testimony and the acts, communications and reports that occur in connection with
2 the preparation for the matter in controversy. J.A. at 137:17-22, *citing Bruce*, 113
3 Wash.2d 123, 136. The district court's reliance on *Bruce*, however, is erroneous.

4
5 In *Bruce*, a group of landowners sued an engineer for negligence in preparing
6 his analysis and testimony he provided as an expert on their behalf in an underlying
7 case against other landowners for causing damage to their land. In the underlying
8 case, the engineer had testified on behalf of the plaintiff-landowners that the cost of
9 the restoration work would be half of what it turned out to be. The trial court
10 dismissed the plaintiff-landowners' case against the engineer for failure to state a
11 claim upon which relief can be granted based upon the witness immunity privilege.
12 The Washington Court of Appeals held that the engineer's statements as a witness
13 were not immune from a *negligence* claim and reversed the trial court's judgment.
14 See *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Associates Engineers, Inc.*, 51 Wn.App. 199, 752
15 P.2d 949 (Wash.App. 1988). In reversing the Court of Appeals, the Washington
16 Supreme Court held that the landowner-plaintiffs' expert witness was absolutely
17 immune from liability for any negligence in his testimony or work preliminary to it.
18 *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs. Eng'rs Inc.*, 113 Wash.2d 123 (1989). The
19 Washington Supreme Court rejected the argument that witness immunity was
20 restricted to defamation cases and held that the policies that justified witness
21 immunity applied to the landowners' negligence claims against him. The *Bruce*
22 case, however, is not only the minority view on that issue, it is not applicable to this
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 case on its facts.

2 In *Bruce*, the issue concerned the application of witness immunity in a suit in
3 which the plaintiffs sued their own expert witness. In that context, *Bruce* has been
4 identified as a *minority and non-persuasive opinion*. See, i.e., *Murphy v. A.A.*
5 *Mathews, a Division of CRS Group Engineers, Inc.*, 841 S.W.2d 671, 678 (1992).
6

7 The general prevailing view is that because expert witnesses are procured to testify
8 to the benefit of the party procuring the expert, the goal of ensuring the path to truth
9 is unobstructed is not advanced by immunizing an expert witness from his or her
10 negligence in formulating that opinion. See *LLMC of Michigan, Inc. v. Jackson-*
11 *Cross Co.*, 559 Pa. 297, 306, 740 A.2d 186, 191 (1999) (witness immunity did not
12 bar professional malpractice claim against expert witness).
13
14

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