1 2	JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 005268									
3	E-mail: JhCotton@jhcottonlaw.com JOHN J. SAVAGE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 011455									
<i>3</i> 4	Nevada Bar No. 011455 E-mail: JSavage@jhcottonlaw.com									
5	JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES 7900 W. Sahara, Suite 200	Electronically Filed Jul 10 2014 09:50 a.m.								
6	Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 Telephone: (702) 832-5909	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court								
7	Facsimile: (702) 832-5910 Attorneys for Respondent	ololik ol oupromo obulik								
8										
9	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA									
10	VIVIAN MARIE LEE HARRISON,	Supreme Court Case No.: 64569								
11	Appellant,	*								
12	V.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court's dismissal of Appellant's Complaint should be upheld because Respondent is immune from liability for opinions and testimony that he provided as an expert witness during the course of the Divorce Proceeding.

Appellant has essentially asserted two arguments for reversal: (1) Nevada law purportedly limits witness immunity to causes of action and claims that derivatively depend on defamation; and (2) the facts of Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens, & Assocs. Engineers, 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989) are purportedly distinguishable from the facts of this case. (See Appellant's Opening Brief at 13:19-28)

Appellant's first argument is without merit because this Court has never expressly limited witness immunity to defamation claims and claims derivative of defamation, but even if it was inclined to do so, Respondent should still be protected by witness immunity here because the nature of this action is for defamation even though it was pleaded as one for medical malpractice. This Court has explained that "[t]he term 'action'...refers to the nature or subject matter and not to what the pleader says it is." Hartford Ins. Group v. Statewide Appliances, Inc., 87 Nev. 195, 198-99, 484 P.2d 569, 571 (1971).

The injuries alleged in Appellant's Complaint are defamatory injuries, not injuries resulting from medical care:

Dr. Roitman's report regarding Ms. Harrison did significant damage to Ms. Harrison in the Harrison litigation and to her reputation generally, caused her emotional and physical suffering, and caused unnecessary delays in and substantially increased the attorneys fees and expert costs to Ms. Harrison of the Harrison litigation.

(J.A. 3 at 3:6-9) (emphasis added).

Additionally, Appellant's Counsel openly admitted in court that he

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

19

25

26

27

28

purposely chose to style Appellant's Complaint as one for medical malpractice rather than defamation because filing a claim for defamation would have been "skating close to the line in terms of the witness immunity." (J.A. 83-84 at 10:5 – 11:3) Filing Appellant's Complaint as an action for medical malpractice was an improper attempt to circumvent the witness immunity privilege.

Appellant's second argument is without merit because the facts of this case are analogous to the facts of Bruce: former litigants suing an expert witness. Appellant attempts to distinguish her case from Bruce by highlighting the fact that Appellant is suing her opponent's expert rather than her own expert as in Bruce. However, this fact actually presents a stronger need for witness immunity since Respondent was retained knowing that his testimony would be adverse to Appellant's case, and without the expectation of witness immunity, there could have been a greater chilling effect on Respondent's testimony (whereas the expert's testimony in Bruce would have less likely been chilled without the expectation of witness immunity since he was retained to support the litigants' case).

Finally, even though it was not addressed in the District Court's order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, dismissal was also proper because Respondent did not owe a duty to Appellant, and thus could not be held liable for medical malpractice.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order granting dismissal pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) is reviewed *de novo*. Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 (2008). Absolute privilege is a question of law for the Court to decide. Clark County School Dist. v. Virtual Education Software, Inc., 125 Nev. 374, 213 P.3d 496 (2009) ("The applicability of the absolute privilege is a matter of law for the court to decide [...]"); Circus Circus Hotels v. Witherspoon, 99 Nev. 56, 657 P.2d 101 (1983) ("the district court also erred in leaving to the jury the question of whether the letter's content was sufficiently relevant to fall within the absolute privilege").

II. APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO WITNESS IMMUNITY BECAUSE HE PROVIDED OPINIONS AND TESTIMONY AS AN EXPERT WITNESS DURING THE COURSE OF A JUDICIAL PROCEEDING

There is a "long-standing common law rule that communications uttered or published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged so long as they are in some way pertinent to the subject of controversy." <u>Circus Circus Hotels v. Witherspoon</u>, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101, 104 (1983) (citing <u>Drummond v. Stahl</u>, 618 P.2d 616 (Ariz.App. 1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 967 (1981); Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, § 114 at 777-79 (4th ed. 1971)).

"Absolute immunity [is granted] to all statements made in the course of, or incidental to, a judicial proceeding, so long as they are relevant to the proceedings." Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226, 115

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Nev. 212, 218, 984 P.2d 164, 168 (1999) (citations omitted). "This has been the policy and rule in Nevada for the last seventy years and the privilege includes administrative hearings, quasi-judicial proceedings as well as judicial actions. It is in the public's interest to have litigants speak freely in pleadings and while testifying during a trial or hearing without fear of civil liability." Id., 115 Nev. at 219.

Like Nevada, other jurisdictions similarly hold that "[w]itnesses in judicial pleadings are absolutely immune from suit based on their testimony." Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Associates Engineers, Inc. et al., 113 Wn.2d 123, 776 P.2d 666 (1989). "The immunity of parties and witnesses from subsequent damages liability for their testimony in judicial proceedings was well established in English common law." Id. (citing Cutler v. Dixon, 4 Co. Rep. 14b, 76 Eng. Rep. 886 (Q. B. 1585); Anfield v. Feverhill, 2 Bulst. 269, 80 Eng. Rep. 1113 (K. B. 1614); Henderson v. Broomhead, 4 H. & N. 569, 578, 157 Eng. Rep. 964, 968 (Ex. 1859); see Dawkins v. Lord Rokeby, 4 F. & F. 806, 833-834, 176 Eng. Rep. 800, 812 (C. P. 1866). Briscoe v. LaHue, 460 U.S. 325, 330-31, 75 L. Ed. 2d 96, 103 S. Ct. 1108 (1983). "The rule is equally well established in American common law." Id. (citing Lawson v. Hicks, 38 Ala. 279, 285-88 (1862); Myers v. Hodges, 53 Fla. 197, 208-10, 44 So. 357, 357-61 (1907); Smith v. Howard, 28 Iowa 51, 56-57 (1869); Gardemal v. McWilliams, 43 La. Ann. 454, 457-58, 9 So. 106, 108 (1891); Burke v. Ryan, 36 La. Ann. 951, 951-52 (1884); McLaughlin v. Cowley, 127 Mass. 316,

319-20 (1879); Cooper v. Phipps, 24 Or. 357, 363-64, 33 P. 985, 986-87 (1893); Shadden v. McElwee, 86 Tenn. 146, 149-54, 5 S.W. 602, 603-05 (1887); Cooley v. Galyon, 109 Tenn. 1, 13-14, 70 S.W. 607, 610 (1902); Chambliss v. Blau, 127 Ala. 86, 89-90, 28 So. 602, 603 (1900)).

The immunity extends not only to expert testimony, but also acts, communications and expert reports which occur in connection with the preparation of their testimony. Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Associates Engineers, Inc. et al., 113 Wn.2d at 136, 776 P.2d at 673 (1989).

A. Nevada has Never Limited the Application of Witness Immunity to Defamation Cases and Causes of Action That Derivatively Depend on a Defamation Claim

Witness immunity in Nevada has generally been discussed in terms of "absolute immunity" and "absolute privilege." See Circus Circus Hotels, 99 Nev. 56; Sahara Gaming Corp., 115 Nev. 212; and Duff v. Lewis, 114 Nev. 564 (1998). See also Hampe v. Foote, 118 Nev. 405, 409 (2002) (overruled on other grounds) ("An absolute privilege is an immunity, which protects against even the threat that a court or jury will inquire into a communication"). This Court has granted "absolute privilege" to communications uttered or published in the course of judicial proceedings and quasi-judicial hearings, complaints filed with an internal affairs bureau against a police officer, letters written in anticipation of litigation, and formal pleadings. See Sahara Gaming Corp., 115 Nev. at 218.

However, there has not been a clear distinction drawn between the terms

"witness immunity" and "judicial immunity." This Court has not expressly extended the application of "witness immunity" beyond defamation cases and causes of action derivative of defamation claims, but it has expressly extended the application of "judicial immunity" to professional negligence cases like the one at issue here.

Immunity was granted in Duff v. Lewis to a court-appointed psychologist who performed a psychological assessment of children and the parents of the children in connection with a custody proceeding. Duff, 114 Nev. at 567. While testifying at the children's custody hearing, the psychologist recommended that the father temporarily lose custody of the children as well as his right to visitation, and the trial court adopted the psychologist's recommendations in its findings of fact and conclusions of law. Id. The father of the children then sued the psychologist for professional negligence and alleged that he was denied custody and forced to seek psychological care as a result of the psychologist's negligent psychological assessment.² Id. at 568. This was not a defamation case.

22

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

23

24

at 567.

28

¹ The psychologist's fees were to be jointly paid by the parents of the children. <u>Id</u>.

²⁵ 26

²⁷

² Before the civil lawsuit was filed, the Nevada State Board of Psychological Examiners found that the psychologist's evaluation of the father was deficient, and as a result, issued discipline against the psychologist. Id. at 567-568.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In granting immunity to the psychologist, this Court explained the following:

The common law doctrine of absolute immunity extends to all person who are an integral part of the judicial process. See Briscoe v. LaHue, 460 U.S. 325, 335, 75 L. Ed. 2d 96, 103 S. Ct. 1108 (1983). The purpose behind a grant of absolute immunity is to preserve the independent decision-making and truthfulness of critical judicial participants without subjecting them to the fear and apprehension that may result from a threat of personal liability. See Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 422-24, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976). "Absolute immunity is thus necessary to assure that judges, advocates, and witnesses can perform their respective functions without harassment or intimidation." Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478, 512, 57 L. Ed. 2d 895, 98 S. Ct. 2894 (1978). Additional reasons for allowing absolute judicial immunity include: "(1) the need to save judicial time in defending suits; (2) the need for finality in the resolution of disputes; (3) to prevent deterring competent persons from taking office; (4) to prevent the threat of lawsuit from discouraging independent action; and (5) the existence of adequate procedural safeguards such as change of venue and appellate review." Lavit, 839 P.2d at 1144 (citing Grimm v. Arizona Bd. of Pardons & Paroles, 115 Ariz. 260, 564 P.2d 1227, 1231-32 (Ariz. 1977)).

These policy reasons apply equally to court-appointed officials such as psychologists and psychiatrists who assist the court in making decisions. Without immunity, these professionals risk exposure to lawsuits whenever they perform quasi-judicial duties. Exposure to liability could deter their acceptance of court appointments or color their recommendations.

Id (citing Seibel v. Kemble, 63 Haw. 516, 631 P.2d 173, 180 (Haw. 1981)). Indeed, "immunity removes the possibility that a professional who is delegated judicial duties to aid the court will become a 'lightning rod for harassing litigation.'" Id. (quoting Acevedo v. Pima County Adult Probation Dept., 142 Ariz. 319, 690 P.2d 38, 40 (Ariz. 1984)).

Duff, 114 Nev. at 568-569 (emphasis added).

John H. Cotton & Associates 7900 W. Sahara, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89117

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Additionally, this Court articulated that:

there are adequate procedural remedies and safeguards that hold court-appointed professionals accountable for their actions. First, and most obvious, is the adversarial process of cross-examination and the opportunity "to bring to the judge's attention any alleged deficiencies in the evaluation." Lythgoe, 884 P.2d at 1091. Second, "the complaining party is 'free to seek appellate review or . . . request a modification of the [trial court's] order." Id. (quoting LaLonde v. Eissner, 405 Mass. 207, 539 N.E.2d 538, 542 (Mass. 1989)). Third,

"although appellees would not be civilly liable for the consequences of their alleged negligent acts, the court is able to insure that its agents will be accountable for their conduct and actions. The court, in its discretion, has the authority to impose or recommend that numerous sanctions be imposed for negligent conduct. Some of the sanctions that could be imposed include appointing another doctor to serve on the panel, prohibiting the doctor from further service to the court and reporting that doctor's behavior to the medical boards for further action."

Id. (quoting Seibel, 631 P.2d at 177 n.8.)).

Duff, 114 Nev. at 570-571.

The foregoing provides persuasive authority that the application of witness immunity should extend beyond defamation cases and causes of action derivative of defamation claims. In this case, the facts are only distinguishable from <u>Duff</u> in that the psychologist there was appointed by the trial court, whereas here, Respondent was retained by Appellant's adversary. The rationale for protecting a witness's testimony from liability, however, remains the same. Voluntarily retained witnesses should thus be afforded the same protections as court-appointed

Therefore, the District Court did not err in granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss since Respondent's opinions and testimony were rendered during the course of another judicial proceeding and were relevant to the proceeding.

B. The Nature of Appellant's Claim is Derivative of a Defamation Claim

Even if the Court was not inclined to grant a voluntarily retained witness the same scope of protection afforded to a court-appointed witness, Respondent should still be granted immunity because Appellant's claim is derivative of a defamation claim despite the fact that it was pleaded as a claim for medical malpractice.

"Defamatory words, published by parties, counsel **or witnesses** in the course of a judicial procedure" and which are "connected with, or relevant or material to, the cause in hand or subject of inquiry," constitute an absolutely privileged communication, and "no action will lie therefor, however false or malicious they may in fact be." Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226, 115 Nev. 212, 218, 984 P.2d 164, 168 (1999) (emphasis added) (citing Hammett v. Hunter, 189 Okla. 455, 117 P.2d 511, 512 (1941)) (holding that "[a]n absolutely privileged communication is defined as words spoken by a party or a witness in due course of a judicial proceeding or any other proceeding authorized by law that are connected with, relevant, pertinent, or material to the subject of inquiry; and such communication will in no event support an action for slander").

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

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